APPEAL NO. 22-CV-418



DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

THE BURRELLO GROUP, LLC AND JOSE BURRELLO

Defendants, Appellants

v.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

Plaintiff, Appellee

Appeal from the Superior Court for the District of Columbia, Civil Division Case No. 2020 CA 002870 B (The Honorable Anthony Epstein, Judge)

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS THE BURRELLO GROUP, LLC AND JOSE BURRELLO

Eric J. Menhart, Esq. Lexero Law 512 C St NE Washington, DC 20002 Phone: 202-904-2818

Attorney for Appellants

RULE 28 CERTIFICATE OF COUNSEL AND PARTIES

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether Summary Judgment Was Improperly Entered and Whether Defendants are Entitled to a Trial by Jury as to Liability
- II. Whether Defendants are Entitled to a Trial by Jury as to Remedies

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 28, 2020, a civil action was filed in the Superior Court for the District of Columbia by Plaintiff/Appellee the District of Columbia (hereinafter "Plaintiff" or "Ditrict" or "Appellee") against Defendants/Appellants, The Burrello Group, LLC, d/b/a Burrello Investment Group, and Jose Burrello, a District-licensed real estate broker and agent of The Burrello Group, LLC (collectively "Defendants" or "Burrello" or "Appellants"). (A. 9) In its Complaint, Plaintiff alleged that Defendants are liable for discriminatory practices that limit affordable housing and violate the District of Columbia Human Rights Act (DCHRA), D.C. Code 2-1401.01. (A. 9-10) Plaintiff alleged that Defendants posted multiple advertisements that stated that "vouchers" would not be accepted as rental payment for a property in the District. (A. 10)

On July 24, 2020, Defendants filed their respective Answer and Affirmative Defenses. (A. 33) Later, on September 09, 2022, Plaintiff filed a Motion for Summary Judgment as to liability pursuant to D.C. Code § 2-1401.01. (A. 40) On October 5, 2021, Defendants filed an Opposition to the District's Motion for Summary Judgment. (A. 249) Plaintiff filed a Reply in Support of its Motion for

Summary Judgment on October 18, 2021. (A. 50) The Superior Court denied Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment on October 21, 2021. (A. 266)

Subsequently, Plaintiff filed an Opposed Motion for Reconsideration on November 18, 2021. (A. 271) Defendants then filed an Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration on December 01, 2021. (A. 281) The Superior Court granted Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration and Summary Judgment on December 06, 2021. (A. 287) Plaintiff then filed an "Opposed Motion for Remedies Following the Court's Grant of Summary Judgment on March 24, 2022." (A. 291) Defendants filed their Opposition to the District's Motion for Remedies on April 06, 2022. (A. 304) Plaintiff then filed a Reply in Support of its Motion for Remedies on April 13, 2022. (A. 313) The Superior Court granted in part and denied in part Plaintiff's Motion for Remedies on May 13, 2022. (A. 318) Defendants timely filed their Notice of Appeal on June 06, 2022. (A. 326)

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

Defendant Jose Burrello is a District-licensed broker and real estate agent of The Burrello Group, LLC. Defendants lease residential real estate in the District and surrounding areas. Defendants posted advertisements about the availability of real property, 131 R Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20002 (the property), to various online platforms. The advertisement included language explaining that the property was "not approved for vouchers." Plaintiff alleges Defendants violated the

DCHRA on the basis of source of income. (A. 22) The language in the advertisements, however, was used only to demonstrate that Defendants never had any type of inspection for a property to be considered for vouchers. (A. 226-227)

Mr. Burrello never had any discriminatory intent. (A. 192) Mr. Burrello identifies as a Latino man and has personally experienced discrimination in his life. Mr. Burrello has no interest in discriminating against anyone. (A. 191-192) Mr. Burrello has worked with people of all ages, races, income sources, sexual identifications and more. Defendants believed in good faith that the property had not undertaken a process to "become eligible" for voucher programs in the District of Columbia. (A. 254)

The trial court initially concluded that "summary judgment should be sparingly granted in cases involving motive or intent." (A. 269) (*citing Hollins v. Fannie Mae*, 760 A.2d 563, 570 (D.C. 2000). This conclusion appeared in the trial court's initial denial of the District's Motion for Summary Judgment. (A. 266) The Court also correctly found that there was a possibility "that a reasonable jury would credit Mr. Burrello's testimony and conclude that he did not subjectively intend to discourage voucher holders." *Id.* Despite this initial and proper

¹ In the interest of full transparency, the Court's full quote was that "A reasonable jury could easily infer that defendants had at least partially a discriminatory reason for including a discriminatory statement in their advertisements, but it is possible, albeit unlikely, that a reasonable jury would credit Mr. Burrello's testimony and conclude that he did not subjectively intend to discourage voucher holders even though that this was the predictable result of the wording he chose." *Id*.

conclusion, the trial court later granted the District's Motion for Reconsideration. The trial court concluded that its initial ruling had been "a manifest error of law" (A. 288) and that "the advertisements themselves are illegal, regardless of defendants' motive." (A. 289). Remedies were later imposed against Defendants by the trial court. (A. 318) This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"The question whether summary judgment was properly granted is one of law, and we review de novo." Blair v. D.C., 190 A.3d 212, 220 (D.C. 2018). Summary judgment should be granted only if a party demonstrates that "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions to file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." *Id*. When independently assessing the record, "we view the facts in the light most favorable to the non-moving party to determine (1) whether any genuine issue of material fact exists, and (2) whether appellees are entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Id. at 220-221. While the moving party bears the burden of demonstrating that there is no genuine issue of material fact, "conclusory allegations by the nonmoving party are insufficient to establish a genuine issue of material fact or to defeat the entry of summary judgment." Id. at 221. Any doubt, however, "about the existence of a factual dispute must be resolved in favor of the non-moving party."

Id.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred when granting Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment and motion for reconsideration because it incorrectly relied on Feemster v. BSA Ltd. Partnership, 548 F.3d 1063, 1070 (D.C. Cir. 2008), and its holding that "when a policy is discriminatory on its face, the defendant's motive is irrelevant." (A. 288) However, because Defendants' advertisements are not discriminatory on their face, the correct test is the three-part, burden-shifting test articulated by the Supreme Court for Title VII cases in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 802, 93 S. Ct. 1817, 36 L.Ed.2d 668, (1973). In the Court's December 6, 2021 Order, the Court rejected the holdings of McDonnell Douglas Corp. because it says "the test applies only if the plaintiff does not proffer direct evidence of intentional discrimination." (A. 289) If Plaintiff needed to sufficiently show 'intentional' discrimination for McDonnell Douglas Corp. to be inapplicable, then such a requirement directly contradicts the Court's reliance on *Feemster*, which is a case that holds that motive is irrelevant.

Even if Plaintiff successfully proved direct, intentional discrimination on its face, the appropriate test is not *Feemster*, but *Comcast Corp. v. Nat'l Ass'n of Afr. Am.-Owned Media*, 140 S. Ct. 1009, 1017, 206 L. Ed. 2d 356 (2020), which

presents a "motivating factor" or "but-for" test. Regardless of whether the analysis falls under *McDonnell Douglas Corp*. for indirect evidence of discrimination or *Comcast Corp*. for direct evidence of discrimination, intent is necessarily part of the required analysis in this case. There is a genuine issue of fact as to motive and intent which must be decided by a jury.

Lastly, Defendants are entitled to a trial by jury for damages. Numerous longstanding precedential decisions, including decisions by this Court of Appeals, support Defendants' positions on this issue.

ARGUMENT

I. Whether Summary Judgment Was Improperly Entered and Whether Defendants are Entitled to a Trial by Jury as to Liability

District of Columbia Superior Court Civil Procedure Rule 38(a) grants a civil litigant the right of trial by jury through the Seventh Amendment to the Constitution, or as otherwise provided by an applicable statute. *See* D.C. Super. Ct. R. 38(a); *see also* U.S. Const. Seventh Amendment.

The trial court states in its December 6, 2021 Order that the only reason summary judgment on liability was initially denied was because there was a "genuine dispute about whether Defendants posted these advertisements wholly or partially for a discriminatory reason." (A. 288). However, the trial court subsequently goes on to state in the same Order that it was persuaded by *Feemster*, 548 F.3d 1063, 1070 (D.C. Cir. 2008), which holds that under the DCHRA (like

Title VII), "when a policy is discriminatory on its face, the defendant's motive is irrelevant." The *Feemster* court concedes that the District of Columbia Court of Appeals has not yet "outlined the boundaries of source-of-income discrimination under the Human Rights Act." *Id.* Moreover, as the trial court notes, *Feemster* is not binding. (A. 288)

While the trial court relied upon the non-binding *Feemster*, this Court of Appeals, in precedent that *is* binding upon the trial court, has already explained that the United States Supreme Court's burden shifting test is proper under the current circumstances. *Futrell v. Dep't of Lab. Fed. Credit Union*, 816 A.2d 793, 802 (D.C. 2003).

This Court explained in *Futrell* that, when considering claims brought under the DCHRA, it is proper to rely upon "the same three-part, burden-shifting test articulated by the Supreme Court for Title VII cases in *McDonnell Douglas Corp.*, 411 U.S. 792, 802, 93 S. Ct. 1817, 36 L.Ed.2d 668 (1973)." *Futrell*, 816 A.2d at 802 (*see also Sumes v. Andres*, 938 F. Supp. 9, 12-13 (D.D.C. 1996)).

The *Futrell* court clearly set out the analytical procedure. First, a plaintiff "must make prima facie showing of discrimination by a preponderance of the evidence. The prima facie showing, when made, raises a rebuttable presumption that the employer's conduct amounted to unlawful discrimination." *Futrell*, 816 A.2d at 803. Second, "once the presumption is raised, the burden shifts to the

employer to rebut it by articulating 'some legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons for the employment action." *Id.* (citation omitted). Finally, in the third step, "the burden shifts back to the employee to prove, again by a preponderance of the evidence, that the employer's stated justification for its action 'was not its true reason but was in fact merely a pretext' to disguise discriminatory practice." *Id.*

In the instant case, the trial court initially, and correctly, concluded that a jury should consider the reasons for the posting of the advertisements. (A. 288) When the trial court later improperly granted the Motion for Reconsideration, it engaged in reversible error.

In this case, even if the District succeeded in demonstrating a possibility of discrimination by a preponderance of the evidence, the Burrello Defendants are afforded the opportunity to give a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for their posting of the advertisement. Defendants provided such a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason by making clear that Mr. Burrello was giving notice that the property in question, to the best of his knowledge, was not 'eligible' for the voucher program. (A. 254) ("I've never gone through the process ... and the property has never gone through the process"). (A. 226-227) Additionally, there is a strong argument that Plaintiff has not proven by a preponderance of the evidence that Defendants' stated justification for its action was untrue and mere pretext.

Finally, although the burden of production may shift from the Plaintiff to

Defendant and back to the Plaintiff, the Plaintiff retains the ultimate burden of persuading the finder-of-fact that the Defendant acted with discriminatory "animus." *Futrell*, 816 A.2d at 803. Plaintiff has not met this burden.

In its December 6, 2021 Order, the Court rejected the implementation of the *McDonnell Douglas Corp*. analysis because it says "the test applies only if the plaintiff does not proffer direct evidence of intentional discrimination." (A. 289)

The only evidence seemingly relied upon for this conclusion was the language "not approved for vouchers," that appeared in the advertisements. (A. 288)

Defendants disagree, completely, that "not approved for vouchers" constitutes "intentional discrimination" on its face. The language is *not* "no vouchers accepted" or "applications for voucher holders not accepted" or "vouchers will not be accepted" or "NO vouchers" or "market tenants only" or any other instances of language that might plainly demonstrate discrimination. Quite to the contrary, the language merely explains that the *property* was "not approved" for vouchers, which was accurate. This language was not, in and of itself, discriminatory as to any particular applicant. The fact that the language was imperfect does not automatically mean that it was discriminatory, and the law is clear that Defendants have a right to demonstrate "their side of the story" to a jury.

Moreover, Plaintiff in this case has not offered any direct evidence of "intentional" discrimination. Indeed, the Court's finding that Plaintiff offered

direct evidence of "intentional" discrimination seemingly directly contradicts its reliance on *Feemster*, where motive is irrelevant.

Even if the trial court correctly found direct, facial discrimination, a "motivating" factor would still be relevant. This Court of Appeals has previously explained that while "a claim of discrimination under the Human Rights Act is generally considered under the three-part burden shifting test set forth in *McDonnell Douglas Corp.*, that test is deemed inappropriate when a plaintiff offers 'direct' evidence of discrimination." *Jung v. George Washington Univ.*, 875 A.2d 95, 110-11 (D.C.) *opinion amended on reh'g*, 883 A.2d 104, (D.C. 2005). If the trial court correctly found that Plaintiff offered direct evidence of discrimination, the reviewing court "would need to use a mixed motives test outlined in *Price Waterhouse v. Hopkins.*" *Jung*, 875 A.2d at 111 (*citing Price Waterhouse v. Hopkins*, 490 U.S. 228, 109 S. Ct. 1775, 104 L.Ed.2d 268 (1989)."

In an employment setting, *Price Waterhouse* requires the plaintiff to show that discrimination "was a motivating factor for any employment practice, even though other factors also motivated the practice." *Id.* at 111 (*see also Comcast Corp. v. Nat'l Ass'n of Afr. Am.-Owned Media*, 140 S. Ct. 1009, 1019, 206 L. Ed. 2d 356 (2020). Moreover, under *Price Waterhouse*, upon presentation of direct evidence of discrimination, the burden of persuasion shifts to the employer to

demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that it would have made the same decision absent the impermissible motive. *Id*.

To warrant treatment under *Price Waterhouse*, a Plaintiff claiming direct evidence of discrimination has a heavy burden, "for not every comment reflecting discriminatory attitudes will support an inference that it was a factor motivating the decision." *Id.* The plaintiff must present evidence of "conduct or statements" by persons involved in the decision-making process that may be viewed as "directly reflecting the alleged discriminatory attitude, sufficient to permit the factfinder to infer that the attitude was more likely than not a motivating factor in the alleged adverse action." *Id.* (*see also Little v. D.C. Water and Sewer Auth.*, 91 A3d 1020, 1025 (D.C. 2014).

Most recently, though, in *Comcast Corp. v. Nat'l Ass'n of Afr. Am.-Owned Media*, 140 S. Ct. 1009, 1017, 206 L. Ed. 2d 356 (2020), the United States Supreme Court discusses how Congress displaced the motivating factor test in *Price Waterhouse*. In the Civil Rights Act of 1991, Congress provided that a Title VII plaintiff who shows that discrimination is even a "motivating" factor in the defendant's challenged employment decision is entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief. *Id.* Motive and intent, therefore, are necessarily relevant, unlike *Feemster*.

Comcast Corp.'s motivating factor, but-for analysis, defeats Feemster's "motive is irrelevant" reasoning. Even if Plaintiff demonstrated a direct, facial discrimination, Plaintiff has not shown how Defendants used source of income as its 'motivating' factor in posting the advertisements under principles set out in Comcast Corp.

Plaintiff claims that Mr. Burrello admitted at deposition in this matter that he included the phrase "not approved for vouchers" in his advertisements to deter calls from housing voucher holders. (A. 279) However, Mr. Burrello has made clear that the motivating factor for doing so was to give notice that the property in question, to the best of his knowledge, was not "eligible" for the voucher program. (A. 254). The language "not approved for vouchers" could reasonably be understood, and was intended, to mean that the property has not undertaken an inspection process by the DCHA and is accordingly "not approved for vouchers." Based on Mr. Burrello's testimony that this is the case, a reasonable jury could, and likely would, infer the same.

In the trial court's October 21, 2021 Order denying summary judgment it cites *Hollins*, 760 A.2d 563, 570 (D.C. 2000), which says summary judgment "should be sparingly granted in cases involving motive or intent." (A.269) The Court correctly concluded that a reasonable jury could credit Mr. Burrello's testimony and "conclude that he did not subjectively intend to discourage voucher

holders even though that this was the predictable result of the wording he chose." *Id.* The law is clear that making credibility determinations, weighing the evidence, and drawing legitimate inferences from the facts are jury functions, not those of a judge. *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*, 477 U.S. 242,255 (1986).

In this case, factual determinations must be made by a jury. Summary judgment is not appropriate. The trial court itself came to this conclusion in its initial denial of the District's Motion for Summary Judgment. This Court of Appeals should now come to the same conclusion.

II. Whether Defendants are Entitled to a Trial by Jury for Damages

Defendants are entitled to a trial by jury for purposes of damages.

Defendants properly reserved the right to a trial by jury in their Answer and did not limit their demand in any way. (A. 38) Defendants' position is that the law is remarkably unambiguous on this issue. A jury must make determinations as to the damages, if any, in this case.

First, it is undisputed that the District's Complaint plainly sought "(a) Injunctive and declaratory relief; (b) *Damages*." (A. 23) (emphasis added). Moreover, the District's Motion for Remedies subsequently sought both legal (damages) and equitable (injunctive) relief. (A. 291)

Second, in addition to their jury demand in their Answer, Defendants clearly raised the jury issue when opposing the District's Motion for Remedies. (A. 304-305)

Despite the clear record, the trial court did not address the jury trial issue at all in its May 13, 2022 Order. (A. 318-324) It was reversible error for the trial court to grant an award of damages, based solely on the District's Motion for Remedies, without a jury trial.

Defendants explained in detail at the trial level how the "the right to a jury trial extends to legal remedies in which legal, rather than equitable, rights are at issue." *District of Columbia v. Equity Residential Mgmt., LLC*, 2019 D.C. Super. LEXIS 21 (citing *Johnson v. Fairfax Village Condominium IV Unit Owners Ass'n*, 641 A.2d 495, 505 (D.C. 1994)).

To determine whether a claim is a properly brought before a jury "the Court must examine both the nature of the action and of the remedy sought." *Id.* (*citing Tull v. United States*, 481 U.S. 412,417,107 S. Ct. 1831, 95 L. Ed. 2d 365 (1987). Superior Court Judge Williams previously, and correctly, held that "civil penalties sought pursuant to the CPPA constitute legal relief which provide a Seventh Amendment right to a jury trial." *Id.*

This Court of Appeals has also explained that "where the issue in dispute is legal in nature a constitutional right to trial by jury attaches; where the issue,

however, is equitable in nature there is no constitutional right to a jury trial." *Johnson*, 641 A. 2d at 505 (*citing E.R.B. v. J.H.F.*, 496 A.2d 607,611 (D.C. 1985); *Natl. Life Ins. Co. v. Silverman*, 147 U.S. App. D.C. 56, 454 F.2d 899, 904 (1971)).

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