#### No. 22-CV-418

## IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEAIRSceived 12/12/2022 05:03 PM Filed 12/12/2022 05:03 PM

## THE BURRELLO GROUP, LLC; JOSE BURRELLO, APPELLANTS,

V.

## DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, APPELLEE.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

## BRIEF FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

KARL A. RACINE Attorney General for the District of Columbia

CAROLINE S. VAN ZILE Solicitor General

ASHWIN P. PHATAK Principal Deputy Solicitor General

CARL J. SCHIFFERLE Deputy Solicitor General

\*MARCELLA COBURN Assistant Attorney General Office of the Solicitor General

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

This Court should affirm the entry of summary judgment for the District on liability on its source-of-income discrimination claims and reject Mr. Burrello's challenge to the civil penalty.

1. The trial court properly granted summary judgment to the District. A facially discriminatory policy is direct evidence of discrimination that establishes, as a matter of law, a causal link between a defendant's action and the protected characteristic. No further analysis of motive or burden-shifting test is required in such cases.

Mr. Burrello's advertisement that the property was "not approved for vouchers" was facially discriminatory under the DCHRA because it indicated to an ordinary reader a preference or limitation based on an individual's source of income. Indeed, there is no other reasonable inference to be drawn from the phrase "not approved for vouchers." Mr. Burrello's attempt to rewrite the advertisement to suggest that the property was not "eligible" for vouchers fails—the plain language of the advertisement still violates the DCHRA and the attempted rewrite is not an accurate representation of how housing vouchers work.

Finally, and as the D.C. Circuit and Supreme Court have held, Mr. Burrello's supposed "benign" intent is irrelevant in cases involving facially discriminatory advertisements. Concluding otherwise would undermine the DCHRA's protections in cases involving the most blatant discrimination. There is therefore no dispute of fact on liability and the District was entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

2. The Court should reject Mr. Burrello's attempt to challenge the civil penalty based on his claimed right to a jury trial. As this Court has long explained,

a trial court does not violate the Seventh Amendment by properly granting summary judgment on liability. To the extent the brief suggests Mr. Burrello was entitled to a jury trial on the *amount* of the civil penalty imposed, that argument fails for three independent reasons. First, this Court lacks jurisdiction to consider it because the injunction that gives the Court jurisdiction in no way turns on this issue. Second, the argument is forfeited because Mr. Burrello raised it in only the most cursory fashion in his opening brief. Third, the argument is wrong because the Supreme Court has explained that the jury trial right does not attach to determinations of the amount of civil penalties.

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. The District Was Entitled To Summary Judgment On Liability For Source-Of-Income Discrimination Under The DCHRA.
  - A. A facially discriminatory advertisement, in itself, violates the DCHRA as a matter of law.

The DCHRA prohibits housing advertisements that discriminate against renters who use vouchers. The statute makes it unlawful, "wholly or partially for a discriminatory reason," to "publish" an "advertisement" about a "proposed transaction[] in real property . . . [that] unlawfully indicates or attempts unlawfully to indicate any preference, limitation, or discrimination based on . . . source of income." D.C. Code § 2-1402.21(a)(5); see 4 DCMR § 1001.1(c) ("Prohibited discrimination may take the form of . . . [a]n expression to [a] prospective . . . renter, or any other person of a preference for or limitation on any . . . renter for a prohibited

reason."). Source-of-income discrimination includes discrimination against individuals using Section 8 housing vouchers. D.C. Code § 2-1402.21(e). Mr. Burrello does not disagree, nor could he—Section 8 vouchers are the provision's "paradigm case." *Feemster*, 548 F.3d at 1070.

"This [C]ourt has often looked to cases construing Title VII to aid . . . in construing the [DCHRA]." *Rose v. United Gen. Contractors*, --- A.3d ---, No. 20-CV-745, 2022 WL 16984725, at \*4 (D.C. Nov. 17, 2022) (quoting *Arthur Young & Co. v. Sutherland*, 631 A.2d 354, 361 n.17 (D.C. 1993)). Indeed, Title VII has a provision similar to the DCHRA's that prohibits covered employers from "publish[ing] . . . any notice or advertisement . . . indicating any preference, limitation, specification, or discrimination[] based on" a protected ground. 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-3(b). So does the federal Fair Housing Act. *See id.* § 3604(c), (d) (prohibiting advertisements "with respect to the sale or rental of a dwelling that indicates any preference, limitation, or discrimination" based on a protected characteristic).

As the Supreme Court has explained in the context of federal antidiscrimination statutes, liability for disparate treatment "depends on whether the protected trait . . . actually motivated the [defendant's action]." *Hazen Paper Co. v. Biggins*, 507 U.S. 604, 610 (1993). "The [defendant] may have relied upon a formal, facially discriminatory policy requiring adverse treatment of [individuals] with that

trait. Or the [defendant] may have been motivated by the protected trait on an ad hoc, informal basis." *Id.* (citations omitted). As this Court recently explained, "[t]he DCHRA prohibits taking [an] action even *partially* for a discriminatory reason." *Rose*, 2022 WL 16984725, at \*8 (emphasis added); *see* D.C. Code § 2-1402.21(a) (prohibiting certain acts taken "wholly or partially for a discriminatory reason"). This establishes a causal standard for liability that requires a plaintiff to show "that the protected characteristic was a significant motivating factor" in the defendant's action, even if it was not "the sole factor." *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted).

That causal standard, in turn, can be proven with evidence of discriminatory intent. "Direct evidence" of discriminatory intent links the defendant's action with the protected characteristic. "Indirect" or "circumstantial" evidence raises an inference of discriminatory intent without any direct link between the defendant's action and the protected characteristic by showing an "absence of any other explanation" for the action. *See McFarland v. George Washington Univ.*, 935 A.2d 337, 346 (D.C. 2007). Cases involving indirect evidence are evaluated under the burden-shifting framework in *McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green*, 411 U.S. 792 (1973). *See Furline v. Morrison*, 953 A.2d 344, 352-53 (D.C. 2008).

This case involves the simplest, most straightforward form of direct evidence—a facially discriminatory policy. *See Hazen Paper*, 507 U.S. at 610. As the Supreme Court and multiple federal courts of appeals have explained, a facially

discriminatory policy is direct—and dispositive—evidence of discrimination that shows a causal link between a defendant's action and a protected ground. *See Trans World Airlines, Inc. v. Thurston*, 469 U.S. 111, 121 (1985) (cited favorably by this Court in interpreting the DCHRA in *Furline*, 953 A.2d at 352 n.21). In *Trans World Airlines*, the Supreme Court held that an airline's policy granting job transfer privileges to former pilots disqualified for any reason other than age—i.e., younger than the airline's mandatory retirement age of 60—was "discriminatory on its face" and amounted to "direct evidence of discrimination." *Id.* "Put another way, direct evidence of intent is supplied by the policy itself." *Hassan v. City of New York*, 804 F.3d 277, 295 (3d Cir. 2015), *as amended* (Feb. 2, 2016) (internal quotation marks omitted).

In a case involving a facially discriminatory policy, "[t]here is no need to probe for a potentially discriminatory motive circumstantially, or to apply the

\_

See also UAW v. Johnson Controls, Inc., 499 U.S. 187, 199 (1991); City of Los Angeles v. Manhart, 435 U.S. 702, 715 (1978); Phillips v. Martin Marietta Corp., 400 U.S. 542, 543-44 (1971) (per curiam); Feemster v. BSA Ltd., 548 F.3d 1063, 1070 (D.C. Cir. 2008); Cmty. Servs., Inc. v. Wind Gap Mun. Auth., 421 F.3d 170, 177 (3d Cir. 2005); Frank v. United Airlines, Inc., 216 F.3d 845, 853-54 (9th Cir. 2000); Bangerter v. Orem City Corp., 46 F.3d 1491, 1500 (10th Cir. 1995); see also Ky. Ret. Sys. v. EEOC, 554 U.S. 135, 147-48 (2008) (confirming "the rule that a statute or policy that facially discriminates based on age suffices to show disparate treatment under the [Age Discrimination in Employment Act]"); Rodriguez v. Procter & Gamble Co., 465 F. Supp. 3d 1301, 1321 (S.D. Fla. 2020) ("A facially discriminatory policy is dispositive evidence of intentional discrimination.").

burden-shifting approach outlined in *McDonnell Douglas*." *Bangerter v. Orem City Corp.*, 46 F.3d 1491, 1501 n.16 (10th Cir. 1995). For that reason, Mr. Burrello's insistence that the trial court erred in failing to follow *McDonnell Douglas* here (Br. 7-9) is wrong. *See Furline*, 953 A.2d at 352 (explaining that *McDonnell Douglas*'s framework applies only where claims rely on circumstantial evidence). In line with all this precedent, if Mr. Burrello's "Not approved for vouchers" advertisements were facially discriminatory, they satisfy the DCHRA's prohibition on taking an action "even partially for a discriminatory reason" based on a protected characteristic. *Rose*, 2022 WL 16984725, at \*8; *see* D.C. Code § 2-1402.21.

# B. Mr. Burrello's advertisements that the property was "not approved for vouchers" are facially discriminatory.

On their face, Mr. Burrello's advertisements violated the DCHRA's prohibition against source-of-income discrimination. As previously noted, the DCHRA—like the Fair Housing Act—prohibits publishing an advertisement for rental housing that "indicates" or "attempts... to indicate" "any preference, limitation or discrimination" based on a protected characteristic. D.C. Code § 2-1402.21(a)(5); accord 42 U.S.C. § 3604. Under the Fair Housing Act, courts assess from the perspective of an "ordinary" or "reasonable" reader whether an advertisement "indicates" a limitation based on a protected characteristic. See Ragin v. N.Y. Times Co., 923 F.2d 995, 999 (2d Cir. 1991); Spann v. Colonial Village, Inc., 899 F.2d 24, 29 (D.C. Cir. 1990) (explaining that a violation occurs when, "to a

reasonable reader the natural interpretation of defendants' advertisements is that they indicate a racial preference or an intention to make such a preference") (internal quotation marks and ellipsis omitted); *Miami Valley Fair Hous. Ctr., Inc. v. Connor Grp.*, 725 F.3d 571, 577-78 (6th Cir. 2013) (adopting same standard). As the Second Circuit concluded in *Ragin*, the term "indicates" is a "critical word" and its "common meaning" is that the statute is "violated if an ad for housing suggests to an ordinary reader that a [protected characteristic] is preferred or dispreferred for the housing in question." 923 F.2d at 999.

This Court should apply the same ordinary-reader standard here and conclude that Mr. Burrello's advertisements that his property was "not approved for vouchers" conveyed that a prospective renter could not pay with a voucher. In other words, they were facially discriminatory as to an individual's source of income. At the very least, "not approved for vouchers"—and in particular, the unambiguous phrase "not approved"—express to the ordinary reader a "preference" for individuals with a non-voucher source of income and a "limitation" on those who seek to pay with vouchers. *See* D.C. Code § 2-1402.21(a)(5). Nothing more is required.

Mr. Burrello's attempt to draw a distinction between "not approved for vouchers" and the myriad phrases he agrees *would* "plainly demonstrate discrimination"—"no vouchers accepted," "applications for voucher holders not accepted," "vouchers will not be accepted," "NO vouchers," "market tenants

only"—falls flat. *See* Br. 9. The only reasonable inference an ordinary reader would draw from "not approved for vouchers" is a preference or limitation based on an individual's source of income that is indistinguishable from "no vouchers." That is especially true because advertising rental property as "not approved for vouchers" is not an accurate reflection of how the voucher program works. There is no pre-approval process for landlords to rent to voucher holders. Only after an applicant has applied for housing, been approved by a landlord, and submitted paperwork and a proposed lease to the District agency does the agency approve or reject rental payment for a voucher holder's chosen property. *See* 14 DCMR §§ 5212-5214.

Mr. Burrello's alternative reading of the advertisements is untenable. His argument that "Not approved for vouchers" merely expressed that "the *property* was 'not approved' for vouchers" and "was not, in and of itself, discriminatory as to any particular applicant," Br. 9, makes no sense. Again, that is not how the voucher program works. And besides, stating that the *property* is "not approved for vouchers" still indicates a limitation in a proposed real estate transaction based on an individual's source of income in violation of D.C. Code § 2-1402.21(a)(5). Moreover, contrary to Mr. Burrello's contention, the DCHRA does not require the advertisement to be "discriminatory as to any *particular* applicant." Br. 9 (emphasis added). An advertisement of a proposed real estate transaction merely has to "indicate [a] preference [or] limitation . . . based on . . . [the] source of income . . . of

any individual." D.C. Code § 2-1402.21(a)(5). An ordinary reader would think "Not approved for vouchers" does so. *See* App. 269 (trial court concluded that "discourag[ing] voucher holders" was "the predictable result of the wording [Mr. Burrello] chose").

The advertisement in *Miami Valley* is a useful contrast. There, the Sixth Circuit determined that an apartment advertised as a "great bachelor pad for any single man looking to hook up" could be reasonably interpreted in multiple ways—perhaps as a "preference for single men," which would violate the Fair Housing Act, but also as "an opinion about who would find the apartment appealing," which would not violate the Act. 725 F.3d at 578. Because "reasonable minds could differ," the Court declined to hold that the advertisement was discriminatory as a matter of law. *Id.* "Not approved for vouchers" is not similarly susceptible to multiple reasonable interpretations.

Mr. Burrello also suggests that the Court should consider the message he subjectively intended to convey. *See* Br. 12 ("The language 'not approved for vouchers' could reasonably be understood, *and was intended*, to mean that the property has not undertaken an inspection process by the [agency] . . . .") (emphasis added). But the question is what the advertisements "indicate[]" to the ordinary reader—that is, what an ordinary reader would reasonably understand—not what the

advertiser intended to convey. See D.C. Code § 2-1402.21(a)(5); Ragin, 923 F.2d at 1000; Spann, 899 F.2d at 29.

# C. Mr. Burrello's supposedly benign motive is irrelevant where the advertisements are discriminatory on their face.

Mr. Burrello's remaining argument is that, even if the advertisements were discriminatory on their face, the trial court was required to conduct a "mixed motive" or "motivating factor" analysis to assess whether he subjectively intended to discriminate against voucher holders. Br. 10-12. Whether he had a discriminatory motive, he argues, is a material dispute of fact that precludes summary judgment. Br. 12-13. Mr. Burrello's argument is simply incorrect.

As the trial court properly held in reliance on the D.C. Circuit's decision in *Feemster*, Mr. Burrello's supposedly benign motive is irrelevant. App. 288-89. In that case, a landlord refused to accept tenants' federal housing vouchers as rent payment but demanded and accepted payment from the tenants' own funds. 548 F.3d at 1065, 1070. Similar to Mr. Burrello here, the landlord in *Feemster* claimed that it had not violated the DCHRA because it was not "motivated by animus against vouchers or their users"—the *Feemster* landlord just wanted the tenants to vacate so it could sell the units and thought the voucher program requirements were too "burdensome." *Id.* at 1069-70. The district court held the plaintiffs failed to prove that the landlord's discriminatory animus motivated its actions and granted summary judgment to the landlord. *Id.* at 1067. The D.C. Circuit reversed, concluding that

plaintiffs were entitled to summary judgment because the landlord's actions were a "facial violation of the [DCHRA] to discriminate on the basis of the renter's source of income" and that the absence of a malevolent motive was irrelevant. *Id.* at 1070-71.

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